No. 00043-4

SUPREME COURT  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 69133-3

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

---

In re the Marriage of:

KIM B. WRIGHT,

Petitioner,

vs.

MARY M. WRIGHT,

Respondent.

---

PETITION FOR REVIEW

---

SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: Catherine W. Smith, WSBA No. 9542  
Valerie A. Villacin, WSBA No. 34515

1619 8<sup>th</sup> Avenue North  
Seattle, WA 98109  
(206) 624-0974

Attorneys for Petitioner

**FILED**  
MAR 27 2014  
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT  
STATE OF WASHINGTON  
CF

FILED  
COURT OF APPEALS DIV I  
STATE OF WASHINGTON  
APR 15 5 11 4: 32

**

**A. Identity of Petitioner.**

Appellant Kim Wright asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' published decision designated in Part B of this Petition.

**B. Decision Below.**

In a decision filed December 16, 2013, Division One affirmed the trial court's award to respondent Mary Wright of both 60% of the community estate, including the vast majority of the parties' investment and retirement accounts and a \$1.7 million "equalizing" judgment, and of a distributive maintenance award exceeding \$1 million, both payable over three years before the appellant Kim Wright's anticipated retirement. (Appendix A)

Division One published its decision and denied petitioner's motion for reconsideration and RAP 9.11 motion on February 3, 2014. (Appendix B) Petitioner asks that this petition be considered in conjunction with his RAP 13.5(b) motion for discretionary review and motion to supplement the record.

**C. Issues Presented for Review.**

1. RCW 26.09.080 requires consideration of four non-exclusive factors, including the nature and extent of the community and separate property, the duration of the marriage, and the parties'

current economic circumstances, in making a “just and equitable” division of the marital estate on dissolution. “This court will not single out a particular factor . . . and require as a matter of law that it be given greater weight than other relevant factors.” *Konzen v. Konzen*, 103 Wn.2d 470, 478, 693 P.2d 97, *cert. denied*, 473 U.S. 906 (1985). Is the court nevertheless required to place the parties “in roughly equal financial positions for the rest of their lives” when the parties have been married at least 25 years?

2. When, in order to place the parties in “roughly equal financial positions for the rest of their lives,” the court makes a disproportionate property award to one spouse based on the other spouse’s predicted greater postdissolution earnings, does the court err in also awarding distributive spousal maintenance to the spouse receiving the disproportionate award on the same grounds, particularly when the maintenance can only be paid from the same postdissolution earnings that the trial court found warranted the disproportionate division of property?

3. When a court purports to “look forward” to base awards of an “equalizing” judgment and distributive spousal maintenance on the predicted future earnings of one spouse, is post-dissolution proof that the spouse’s actual income was significantly

lower than predicted relevant to whether the court's decision was proper?

**D. Statement of the Case.**

Petitioner Kim Wright and respondent Mary Wright, both now age 61, were married on June 14, 1980. (CP 3-4; RP 44, 46) Kim<sup>1</sup> was a neurosurgeon who earned a substantial income for the family; Mary stayed home with the parties' eight children, all of whom are now adults.

The trial court valued the community property at \$17.84 million after finding the parties had legally separated on April 26, 2011, when Mary filed this dissolution petition, rather than nearly four years earlier when the parties physically separated and Kim moved to Alaska to practice medicine (CP 260-64; Finding of Fact (FF) 2, CP 249) The trial court awarded Mary a Mercer Island waterfront residence and the vast majority of the parties' cash, retirement, and stock accounts, totalling more than \$8.5 million, and an additional \$1.7 million "equalizing" judgment, payable over three years, to provide her with what the trial court calculated as 59.5% of the community estate (\$10.226 million). (See Opening Br.

---

<sup>1</sup> Because the parties share a last name this petition refers to them by their given names. No disrespect is intended.

23) The disproportionate division left Kim with less than \$500,000 in community cash, retirement and stock accounts. Over 20% of Kim's award was the \$1.4 million value placed on his Alaska medical practice, which the trial court conceded would have no ongoing value when Kim retired, in less than three years. (See FF 9, CP 252) While the trial court acknowledged that the goodwill of Kim's medical practice was not a "saleable asset," it nevertheless awarded it to him as an asset, noting that it did so to "protect" Mary's "financial expectations" in the practice. (FF 10, CP 253)

In addition to its disproportionate award of property, the trial court awarded Mary spousal maintenance of \$30,000 a month for three years – total maintenance of \$1.08 million. (CP 258) The basis for both the disproportionate award of property and the distributive spousal maintenance award was the trial court's prediction that Kim would earn gross annual income of \$4 million (\$10 million total) for the next 2 ½ years, until he retired. (FF 4, CP 250; FF 12, CP 254)

Kim appealed, challenging the disproportionate property division and the distributive spousal maintenance award. In affirming the disproportionate property award, Division One held that "if the spouses were in a long-term marriage of 25 years or

more, the court's objective is to place the parties in roughly equal financial positions for the rest of their lives," and that "to reach this objective, the court may account for each spouse's anticipated postdissolution earnings in its property distribution by looking forward." (Appendix A, ¶ 7) Division One concluded that, using the trial court's prediction of his future income, "Dr. Wright would ultimately end up with nearly \$2.7 million more than Ms. Wright in the long run." <sup>2</sup> (Appendix A, ¶ 8) Division One's own reasoning depends entirely on Kim earning \$10 million (\$4 million annually) in the 2 1/2 years after divorce, from which he would pay both the \$1.7 million "equalizing" judgment and \$1 million-plus distributive spousal maintenance award.

---

<sup>2</sup> This conclusion is not only mathematically flawed but depends entirely on the husband earning \$10 million (\$4 million annually) in the 2 1/2 years after divorce, from which he would have to pay both the wife's \$1.7 million "equalizing" judgment and \$1 million-plus spousal maintenance award. It appears to be based on the wife's claim that the husband would "surpass" her by nearly \$2.7 million based on the following calculation:  $\$10,000,000 \times .396$  (tax bracket) =  $\$6,040,000 - \$3,369,196 = \$2,670,804$ . (Resp. Br. 21-22) But the wife actually received \$3,532,642 more in property than the husband, plus \$1,080,000 in spousal maintenance. (See App. Br. 23-24) Thus, the "immediate imbalance" in the wife's favor was \$4,612,642, not \$3,369,196. (Appendix A, ¶ 8) Assuming the husband could earn \$10 million over the 2.5 years after the divorce (which would require that he earn \$6 million in the next 13 months), and that the rules governing subtraction are not discretionary, the husband would be "ahead" only \$1,427,358. Ironically, that is about the value placed on his surgical practice by the trial court – a value that, as noted in the text, will evaporate when he retires. (See FF 9, CP 252)

Division One rejected Kim’s argument that the trial court’s \$1.7 million “equalizing” judgment improperly invaded his separate property because the way in which the marital estate had been divided meant the award would necessarily be paid from his postdissolution income. (Appendix A, ¶ 10) Division One held that the character of property is not controlling in a property division, and that the trial court is free to award one spouse’s separate property to the other, relying on its recent decision in *Marriage of Larson and Calhoun* \_\_ Wn. App. \_\_, 313 P.3d 1228 (2013), (Appendix A, ¶ 10), *pet. rev. pending* in Cause No. 89862-6.

Division One also affirmed the distributive spousal maintenance award, on the same grounds. Holding that “financial need is not a prerequisite to a maintenance award,” Division One reasoned that Kim would continue to earn significant postdissolution income, averaging \$4 million a year in the 2-1/2 years after divorce (\$10 million), that “will leave him ahead by nearly \$2.7 million, even considering the maintenance award” (Appendix A, ¶ 25), again basing its discretionary “math” on the postdissolution income predicted by the trial court.

Kim moved for reconsideration and asked Division One in reconsidering its decision to consider evidence of his *actual*

postdissolution income under RAP 9.11. Although both the trial and appellate court's decisions had been premised on him earning \$4 million annually, his earnings in the 18 months since divorce had been little over half that. Given Division One's holding that the courts' "objective" in long-term marriages must be to place the parties in "roughly equal financial positions for the rest of their lives," the courts' reliance on an inaccurate prediction of the amount Kim would earn postdissolution meant that goal could not be achieved with the disproportionate property division and distributive maintenance award.

Division One denied the motion for reconsideration and the motion to take additional evidence and published its decision. Kim petitions for review.

**E. Why This Court Should Accept Review.**

- 1. Division One's published decision creates a new rule for long-term marriages that ignores RCW 26.09.080, conflicts with this Court's decision in *Konzen*, and raises an issue of substantial public interest that this Court should decide.**

RCW 26.09.080 requires the trial court to make a "just and equitable" distribution after consideration of all relevant factors, including but not limited to:

1. The nature and extent of the community property;
2. The nature and extent of the separate property;
3. The duration of the marriage; and
4. The economic circumstances of each spouse at the time the division of property is to become effective.

RCW 26.09.080. Instead of making a “just and equitable” distribution based on *all* these factors, Division One’s decision in this case directs the courts to place the parties to a long-term marriage lasting more than 25 years in “roughly equal financial positions for the rest of their lives.” (Appendix A, ¶ 7) This new rule improperly gives greater weight to the “duration of the marriage” than to the other factors the court is required to consider under the statute.

“This court will not single out a particular factor . . . and require as a matter of law that it be given greater weight than other relevant factors.” *Konzen v. Konzen*, 103 Wn.2d 470, 478, 693 P.2d

97 (1985).<sup>3</sup> Division One’s decision in this case conflicts with *Konzen*, making the duration of the marriage the only relevant factor in the division of property at the end of long-term marriages.

Division One’s decision in this case goes far beyond confirming a trial court’s discretion in making a property division. Instead, it creates a new rule that ignores all the factors of RCW

---

<sup>3</sup> Division One’s opinion in this case cites *Konzen* for the proposition that the character of property is not controlling – a proposition with which petitioner does not argue. (Appendix A ¶ 10) But *Konzen* does not support the factorless exercise of discretion in the division of property in the manner in which it is cited in both this case and in *Marriage of Larson and Calhoun*, \_\_\_ Wn. App. \_\_\_, 313 P.3d 1228 (2013), *pet. rev. pending* in Cause No. 89862-6. The correct standard of review is whether “the decision is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds or untenable reasons.” *Marriage of Littlefield*, 133 Wn.2d 39, 46-47, 940 P.2d 1362 (1997). This standard of review properly focuses on whether the trial court’s decision is based on the correct legal standard and whether the facts as found by the trial court meet the requirements of the correct legal standard. (See App. Br. 20; Reply Br. 3-4) Importantly, this standard of review also recognizes that the appellate courts have a role in establishing the factors relevant to the trial court’s exercise of its discretion.

Nothing in *Konzen*, or elsewhere in the statutory or case law governing the division of property, supports the new rule for division of property at the end of a long-term marriage announced in this case. In *Konzen*, this Court affirmed the trial court’s decision awarding the wife 30% of the husband’s separate property military pension, after dividing the community estate equally between the parties. Most of the *Konzen* opinion addresses the impact of federal laws on the state court’s authority to consider and divide a spouse’s military retired pay. See 103 Wn.2d at 473-77. *Konzen* was one of a series of cases decided in the mid-1980s dealing with the much-criticized consequences of the U.S. Supreme Court’s characterization of federal benefits in *McCarty* and other cases. See also, *e.g.*, *Marriage of MacDonald*, 104 Wn.2d 745, 709 P.2d 1196 (1985); *Marriage of Landry*, 103 Wn.2d 807, 699 P.2d 214 (1985).

26.09.080 except the duration of the marriage, dictating that the trial court's "objective" in long term marriages must be to "place the parties in roughly equal financial positions for the rest of their lives" – regardless of the parties' economic circumstances at the time of the dissolution, and without consideration of the character of the property before the court for distribution.

RCW 26.09.080 does not support Division One's new rule. A "fair and equitable" division is not necessarily one that places the parties in "roughly equal financial positions for the rest of their lives," as dictated by Division One. As this Court held over a century ago, even when a "husband and wife have toiled on together for upwards of a quarter of a century in accumulating property," the "ultimate duty of the court is to make a *fair and equitable* division under all the circumstances" – not a "roughly equal" one. *Sullivan v. Sullivan*, 52 Wash. 160, 164, 100 P. 321, 323 (1909) (emphasis added). In *Sullivan*, for instance, this Court affirmed a property division (with no maintenance) that awarded the husband all of the property that the trial court found was his separate property and 55% of the community property.

Division One's decision also disregards the century-long distinctions made by the Legislature and the courts between

separate and community property, and directly contravenes the requirement in RCW 26.09.080 that the dissolution court in dividing the marital estate consider the character of the property before it, by holding that “to reach this objective [of roughly equal financial positions], the court may account for each spouse’s anticipated postdissolution earnings in its property distribution by looking forward.” (Appendix A, ¶ 7) Post-separation (and certainly postdissolution) earnings are separate property. RCW 26.16.140. As this Court has held, a spouse’s right to their separate property is “sacred.” *Estate of Borghi*, 167 Wn.2d 480, 484, ¶ 8, 219 P.3d 932 (2009), quoting *Guye v. Guye*, 63 Wash. 340, 352, 115 P. 731 (1911). That “sacred” right does not evaporate simply because the parties’ marriage lasted 25 years or more.

Division One’s pronouncement that trial courts are “required” to “look forward” at the postdissolution earnings of each party when dividing the marital estate of a long-term marriage also ignores RCW 26.09.080’s dictate that the trial court consider “the economic circumstances each spouse *at the time the division of property is to become effective.*” RCW 26.09.080(4) (emphasis added). “Looking forward” to predicted earnings and assets that do not exist when the trial court is dividing the property conflicts with

Division Two's decision in *White v. White*, 105 Wn. App. 545, 549, 20 P.3d 481, 484 (2001), which holds that "when exercising this broad discretion, a trial court focuses on the assets then before it—i.e., on the parties' assets at the time of trial." It is also inconsistent with this Court's decision in *Marriage of Hall*, 103 Wn.2d 236, 248, 692 P.2d 175 (1984), that while "future earning potential" is a "consideration" in making a just and equitable division of property, it is not an "asset" that can be used to offset other assets.

The reason for restricting reliance on predicted postdissolution income is obvious – it requires a level of speculation that is an untenable grounds for the court's division of property. Here, for instance, the trial court based both its disproportionate property division and distributive spousal maintenance award on the prediction that petitioner would have a future \$10 million asset (annual income of \$4 million over 2 ½ years). The Court of Appeals affirmed on the same basis. (Appendix A, ¶ 8) If this is the rule – that trial courts can speculate as to one spouse's future income, and treat it as an asset to be awarded – then a reviewing court should take additional evidence to determine whether in fact the trial court's property division

either makes a “just and equitable” division or “places the parties in roughly equal financial positions for the rest of their lives.”

The only support Division One cites for its holding in this case that “if the spouses were in a long-term marriage of 25 years or more, the court’s objective is to place the parties in roughly equal financial positions for the rest of their lives” (Appendix A, ¶ 7) is dicta from its earlier decision in *Marriage of Rockwell (I)*, 141 Wn. App. 235, 243, ¶ 12, 170 P.3d 572 (2007), *rev. denied*, 163 Wn.2d 1055 (2008), *on remand*, *Rockwell (II)* 157 Wn. App. 449, 238 P.3d 1184 (2010). Division One’s decision also misapplies *Rockwell* in a manner this Court should accept review to correct.

*Rockwell (I)* affirmed an award to each party of their separate property and a disproportionate award of the community property (but no maintenance) to the older wife, who was retired and in ill health, on the grounds the younger husband would have an opportunity to “make up” the smaller property division with his

predicted employment income after divorce.<sup>4</sup> In dicta, both published opinions in *Rockwell* state:

In a long term marriage of 25 years or more, the trial court's objective is to place the parties in roughly equal financial positions for the rest of their lives. The longer the marriage, the more likely a court will make a disproportionate distribution of the community property. Where one spouse is older, semi-retired and dealing with ill health, and the other spouse is employable, the court does not abuse its discretion in ordering an unequal division of community property.

*Rockwell (I)*, 141 Wn. App. at 243, ¶ 12; *Rockwell (II)*, 157 Wn. App. at 452, ¶4.

*Rockwell (II)* cites only *Rockwell (I)* for this “roughly equal” proposition. 157 Wn. App. at 452, ¶ 4) The only support *Rockwell*

---

<sup>4</sup> The holdings of *Rockwell* have become lost in the misguided use of its dicta. The disproportionate property division was affirmed, and the case was remanded on the wife’s cross-appeal because the trial court mischaracterized a portion of the wife’s separate property pension as community property by using the “subtraction method” rather than the “time rule method” in *Rockwell (I)*, 141 Wn. App. 235, 254, ¶ 36, 170 P.3d 572 (2007). On remand, the trial court re-characterized the pension and once again divided the community property 60/40 in the wife’s favor and awarded each party their separate property. *Marriage of Rockwell (II)*, 157 Wn. App. 449, 238 P.3d 1184 (2010). On remand from the second appeal, the trial court was able to test its original prediction that the husband could earn \$70,000 annually with the actual facts and confirmed that it intended to make the same property division. *Marriage of Rockwell (III)*, 168 Wn. App. 1047, 2012 WL 2369519 (2012).

Petitioner does not rely on the unpublished decision in *Rockwell (III)* as authority, but to provide context for the Court of Appeals’ decision in *Rockwell (I)* and to demonstrate why later courts’ misapplication of its dicta supports acceptance of review to determine the issues of substantial public interest raised by this petition. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

(I) cites for this “objective” is the WSBA, Family Law Deskbook, § 32.3(3) at 17 (2d. ed. 2000). The Deskbook, in turn, relies on a 32-year old Washington Bar News article by then-King County Superior Court Judge Robert Winsor. Winsor, Robert, “*Guidelines for the Exercise of Judicial Discretion*,” Washington State Bar News at 16 (January 1982). The Winsor article is not available online, and has never been cited in a published decision of the Washington appellate courts. For the Court’s convenience, a copy of the Winsor article is attached as Appendix C.

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