RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Apr 03, 2014, 4:14 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

No. 90043-4

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

In re the Marriage of:

KIM B. WRIGHT,

Petitioner,

٧.

MARY M. WRIGHT,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MASTERS LAW GROUP, P.L.L.C. Kenneth W. Masters, WSBA 22278 Shelby R. Frost Lemmel, WSBA 33099 241 Madison Ave. North Bainbridge Island, WA 98110 (206) 780-5033 Attorney for Respondent

INTRODUCTION

Relying largely on new evidence that is the subject of his failed RAP 9.11 motion, Dr. Kim Wright asks this Court to take review to address issues that are not presented in this matter, or to revert to decades-old law. This Court should deny review.

The Honorable William Downing did not adopt a "new rule" for long-term marriages, but made a just and equitable property distribution and maintenance award under the controlling statutes. Judge Downing felt no obligation to divide the asset roughly equally, nor did he. He did not feel constrained by *Marriage of Rockwell*, a six-year-old case that is the real subject of Dr. Wright's ire.

Judge Downing properly considered each party's future earning capacity, as he is required to do under this Court's holding in *Marriage of Hall*, *infra*. There is no conflict and no reason to overrule *Hall*, which Dr. Wright largely ignores.

The holding that "financial need" is not a necessary prerequisite to a maintenance award is consistent with RCW 26.09.090 and scores or cases following it, including this Court's decision in *Marriage of Washburn*. Dr. Wright's professed conflict is an invitation to abandon *Washburn* and its progeny and revert to outdated and unwise law from 1972. This Court should deny review.

RESPONSE TO FACTS RELATED TO MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

A. After a 30-plus-year marriage, the parties divorced following the birth of Dr. Wright's child with his younger girlfriend.

The parties met in 1977, and married in 1980. CP 227, FF 2.¹ Soon after, Mary Wright left her employment as a nurse to raise the parties' children. *Id.* Dr. Kim Wright focused on his neurosurgery practice. *Id.*

In 2007, Dr. Wright moved his medical practice to Alaska, where he could increase his income five or six times, while working less. RP 666, 789-90, 972-73. The youngest three of the parties' eight children were still in middle or high-school, and the parties agreed that Dr. Wright would travel back and forth often, until the children were off to college and Mary could join Dr. Wright in Alaska. RP 64-65, 375-76, 590-92.

After moving to Alaska, Dr. Wright cut back his neurosurgical practice by about one-third, but "quadrupled his income," averaging about \$5 million annually. CP 230, FF 8. This increase was due to the higher medical reimbursement rates in Alaska. *Id*.

¹ Dr. Wright filed both a Petition for Review and a Motion for Discretionary Review. Mary's responses to both use the same statement of facts.

; ;			
:			
İ			
:			
i	i		
	; 		
	; ;		

As planned, Dr. Wright traveled home regularly, and the family visited him in Alaska as well. BR 6-11. But in October 2010, Dr. Wright told Mary that he had a pregnant girlfriend, a younger pilot he had helped to obtain her license. RP 398-99. "[D]evastated," "shock[ed]," and "overwhelmed," Mary made no immediate decision, but filed for dissolution after the child was born. RP 399-400, 404, 1025; CP 3.

B. Judge Downing divided the community assets 60/40, awarding Mary three years of maintenance totaling approximately \$1 million before taxes.

The total martial estate was approximately \$18.2 million, \$17,184,506 of which was community property. CP 260-64, 268, 269; Exs 332, 333. The Honorable William Downing divided the community assets 60/40, awarding Mary \$10,226,834: \$8,526,834 in community property, and a \$1.7 million equalizing payment; and awarding Dr. Wright \$6,957,672: \$8,657,672 in community property less the \$1.7 million equalizing payment. CP 235, FF 4; CP 238-43; Exs 36, 332, 333. Judge Downing also awarded Dr. Wright \$979,766 in separate property, bringing the net value of Dr. Wright's property award to \$7,937,438. *Id.*; CP 198-99. Thus, Mary received about 56% of the total marital estate and Dr. Wright received about 44%.

Judge Downing found that Dr. Wright will continue to work for at least two and one-half more years, earning not less than \$4 million annually, totaling at least \$10 million. CP 228, FF 5; CP 232, FF 12. He ordered Dr. Wright to pay Mary \$1 million in maintenance (taxable to Mary) over three years, less than Dr. Wright's separate property award on an after-tax basis, and only one-tenth of his anticipated post-dissolution earnings. CP 232, FF 12; 236-37, CL 6, 9; CP 240, 268-69. The appellate court affirmed in an unpublished decision.

Dr. Wright moved for reconsideration, moved to publish, and moved the court to order the taking of additional evidence under RAP 9.11. Eleven days later, Dr. Wright also moved to modify maintenance in the King County Superior Court, just as his counsel had predicted in oral argument. The appellate court granted the motion to publish, but denied Dr. Wright's motions for reconsideration and under RAP 9.11. Dr. Wright asks this Court to take discretionary review of the order denying his RAP 9.11 motion while filing a Petition for Review premised largely on the rejected RAP 9.11 evidence.

C. The "new evidence" Dr. Wright offers under RAP 9.11 is a completely one-sided account of his post-dissolution income.

The new evidence Dr. Wright offers is his declaration and tax records, purporting to demonstrate that his post-decree income is less than the trial court anticipated. Mary has had no opportunity to test Dr. Wright's allegations through discovery. But the picture Dr. Wright paints is not a fair depiction of reality.

As just one example, Dr. Wright's RAP 9.11 declaration – which incorporates his earlier RAP 18.1 declaration – omits a significant increase in this his income from rental properties. App. A (Dr. Wright's RAP 18.1 declaration, dated September 4, 2013). Dr. Wright's RAP 9.11 declaration, filed in January 2014, does not discuss rental income. His RAP 18.1 declaration, dated September 4, 2013, included a \$31,500 / month debt on one of his Alaska rental properties. But Dr. Wright leased that building 7 months earlier (on February 14, 2013) for \$45,060 / month, increasing 3% per year, over a 10-year term, to \$58,793 / month. App. B (Dr. Wright's Supplemental Interrogatory Answers, dated March 4, 2014). In claiming that his earned income has declined, Dr. Wright neglects to mention this rental-income increase.

REASONS THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

A. The trial court was not "required" to roughly equalize the parties' post-dissolution economic circumstances.

The first issue Dr. Wright asks this Court to review is whether the trial court dissolving a long-term marriage is "required" to roughly equalize the parties' post-dissolution economic circumstances. PR 2. The short answer is "no," trial courts have broad discretion to fashion maintenance and property awards, limited only by equity and justice. The Honorable William Downing plainly understood his broad discretion, awarding assets and maintenance that did not "roughly equal[ize]" the parties' post-dissolution financial circumstances, but left Dr. Wright about \$2.7 million ahead based on what Judge Downing found Dr. Wright would likely earn post-trial.

Judge Downing rejected the assertion that "roughly equal[izing]" the parties' post-dissolution financial circumstances is an "imperative," accurately characterizing it instead as a "suggestion." CP 235, CL 4. Discussing this issue, Judge Downing stated, "this Court views itself as having discretion and as having exercised it." *Id.* Judge Downing did not feel required to do anything other than divide the property in a manner he "deem[ed] just and equitable in light of the RCW 26.09.080 factors. *Id.*

Dr. Wright's argument here is in stark contrast with the one he raised in the Court of Appeals. There, Dr. Wright argued "that the trial court abused its discretion because its property distribution did not leave the parties in 'roughly equal' positions." *In re Marriage of Wright*, No. 69133-3-I, 2013 Wash. App. LEXIS 2823, *4 (December 16, 2013). The appellate court saw no abuse of discretion, where the property distribution and maintenance awards were projected to leave Dr. Wright about \$2.7 million ahead just 2.5 years after the dissolution. *Wright*, 2013 Wash. App. LEXIS 2823, at *4-6.

But now, Dr. Wright contends that the trial court was so focused on "roughly equal[izing]" the parties' post-dissolution financial circumstances following their long-term marriage, that he ignored the other factors relevant to the property distribution under RCW 26.09.080, including the nature and extent of the community and separate property, and each party's economic circumstances. PR 8. This, Dr. Wright claims, conflicts with the statute itself, and with *Konzen*, requiring courts to consider all of the statutory factors without prioritizing any individual factor. PR 9-11; *In re Marriage of Konzen*, 103 Wn.2d 470, 472, 478, 693 P.2d 97 (1985) *cert. denied*, 473 U.S. 906 (1985). The obvious problem with this argument is that

there is no indication Judge Downing placed too much emphasis on the duration of the parties' marriage.

Judge Downing is well known to this Court. He plainly stated that he considered each RCW 26.09.080 factor, he set forth detailed findings valuing and dividing the assets in dispute, and he appended a six-page asset-distribution sheet identifying and valuing the parties' assets. CP 235, CL 4; CP 238-43. While Judge Downing once mentioned the duration of the parties' marriage, he spent considerable time identifying and valuing the only two assets in dispute, the interest in Alaska Neurosurgery Associates and the family home. CP 229, FF 7; CP 232-33, FF 13-14; CP 235; RCW 26.09.080(1) & (3).

But perhaps the most compelling evidence that Judge Downing amply considered the character of the assets before the court is that he awarded Dr. Wright \$979,766 in separate property – cash earned after the parties separated. CP 64-65, 198-99, 238-43; Exs 36, 332, 333; RCW 26.09.080(2). Dr. Wright fails to mention this sizable award in complaining that Judge Downing ignored the character of the assets. PR 9-11.

Judge Downing also carefully considered the parties' "economic circumstances . . , at the time the division of property

[was] to become effective." RCW 26.09.080(4); CP 228-29, FF 4-6; CP 229-30, FF 8; CP 232, FF 12; CP 234, FF 16. As discussed fully below, this included properly considering each party's work history and earning capacity. *Infra*, Argument § B.

In short, Judge Downing plainly considered each RCW 26.09.080 factor. He did not "roughly equal[ize]" the parties' post-dissolution financial circumstances, but left Dr. Wright millions ahead. And Judge Downing even articulated that he did not feel "required" to roughly equalize.² Thus, the issue Dr. Wright takes with *Rockwell* simply is not presented in this case. This Court should deny review.

B. The trial court property considered the parties' future earning capacity in distributing the parties' assets and awarding maintenance.

The second issue Dr. Wright asks this Court to review is whether a trial court making a disproportionate property award based on the parties' grossly disparate earning capacity – or what he calls "future income" – can also award maintenance based on the same. PR 2. The short answer is "yes" – the court can and must consider what both parties will earn in the future as one of many factors

² Referring to *Marriage of Rockwell*, 141 Wn. App. 235, 170 P.3d 572 (2007) *rev. denied*, 163 Wn.2d 1055 (2008).

relevant to both an equitable distribution of property and a maintenance award. This Court need not take review to restate this rule announced in at least three of this Court's decisions, and countless appellate decisions. See e.g., DeRuwe v. DeRuwe, In re Marriage of Washburn, and In re Marriage of Hall, infra.

The first flaw in Dr. Wright's argument is that he treats property distributions and maintenance awards as if they are independent of one another, suggesting that trial courts must consider only RCW 26.09.080 in dividing property, and only RCW 26.09.090 in awarding maintenance. PR 10-11. This false construct sets up Dr. Wright's argument that a court dividing property must look only at the "economic circumstances of each spouse . . . at the time the division of property is to become effective" – RCW 26.09.080(4) – so cannot consider each party's ability to meet their financial needs in the future – RCW 26.09.090(a) & (f). *Id.* This is not the law, nor would it be workable in practice: the "trial court may properly consider the property division when determining maintenance, and may consider maintenance in making an equitable division of the property." *In re Marriage of Estes*, 84 Wn. App. 586, 593, 929 P.2d 500 (1997).

The second flaw in Dr. Wright's argument is that it ignores this Court's opinion in *In re Marriage of Hall*, rejecting the argument Dr. Wright raises here. 103 Wn.2d 236, 248, 692 P.2d 175 (1984). There, this Court plainly stated that not only *may* a trial court consider future income when distributing property under RCW 26.09.080, but that the trial court "should" also consider, amongst other things, the parties' "future earning prospects," a "substantial factor . . . in a just and equitable property distribution":

In addition to the four subsections in RCW 26.09.080, which include "[t]he economic circumstances of each spouse at the time the division of property is to become effective," the court should also consider the age, health, education and employment history of the parties and their children, and the future earning prospects of all of them in determining a just and equitable division. *DeRuwe v. DeRuwe*, 72 Wn.2d 404, 408, 433 P.2d 209 (1967); *In re Marriage of Rink*, 18 Wn. App. 549, 551, 571 P.2d 210 (1977). In *Washburn* we also emphasized the importance of the future earnings potential of each spouse by setting it out as one of four factors to be considered in determining the proper amount of compensation for the supporting spouse.

Once again we emphasize the importance of consideration of future earning potential. . . . we hold that it is a substantial factor to be considered by the trial court in making a just and equitable property distribution.

Marriage of Hall, 103 Wn.2d at 248 (citing In re Marriage of Washburn, 101 Wn.2d 168, 179, 677 P.2d 152 (1984)). Hall directly rejects the second argument Dr. Wright raises. This Court should deny review.

Dr. Wright argues that *Hall* holds that future earning potential is not an "asset" that can be used to offset other assets." PR 12. This is correct, but irrelevant. Relying on this Court's then-recent decision in *Washburn*, *Hall* held that like the increased earning potential conferred by a professional degree, the "future earning potential" at issue in *Hall* was not an asset that could offset the award of goodwill to the husband, but was a "substantial factor" in the property distribution. *Hall*, 103 Wn.2d at 247-48 (citing *Washburn*, 101 Wn.2d at 174-75, holding that "future earning prospects" are relevant to both the maintenance award under RCW 26.09.090 and the property distribution under RCW 26.09.080). In other words, *Hall and Washburn* directly contradict Dr. Wright's assertion that a trial court distributing assets under RCW 26.09.080 may not consider the parties' future earning potential.

The court's property division and maintenance award, taken together, are more than fair to Dr. Wright. Dr. Wright neglects to mention that the maintenance award (\$1,080,000 before taxes, spread out over three years) has an after-tax value that is hundreds of thousands of dollars less than the \$979,766 in after-tax separate property Judge Downing awarded Dr. Wright independent of the 60/40 asset distribution. CP 64-65, 198-99, 238-43; Exs 36, 332,

333. The maintenance award is also just one-tenth of the income Judge Downing found Dr. Wright would earn in 2.5 years after the dissolution. CP 232, FF 12; CP 236-37, CL 6, 9.

In short, our courts have long held that trial courts not only may, but should consider the parties' future earning prospects when distributing assets and awarding maintenance. This Court should deny review.

C. This Court should not order the taking of new evidence.

The third issue Dr. Wright asks this Court to consider is whether this Court should order the taking of additional evidence under RAP 9.11, since the trial court considered, as it must, the parties' future earning potential. PR 2-3. Dr. Wright's sole argument on this point is that considering post-dissolution income invites trial courts to speculate, such that this Court should order the taking of additional evidence under RAP 9.11 to ascertain whether the trial court's necessary predictions were correct. PR 12-13. The short answer to this issue is "no," this Court should not adopt this unprecedented expansion of RAP 9.11. This Court should deny review.

Mary Wright's Answer to Dr. Wright's Motion for Discretionary

Review addresses this issue in great detail. In brief, under *Hall*,

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